**FILED** 

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

NO. 938510-8

### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

(46803-4-II)

THE CITY OF TACOMA, a Washington Municipal Corporation,

Petitioner/Appellant,

vs.

TT PROPERTIES, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondent.

### CITY OF TACOMA'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Jeff H. Capell, WSBA No. 25207 Deputy City Attorney City of Tacoma 747 Market Street, Room 1120 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 591-5638

##

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
111.	A. In the absence of any facts that the City acted in a proprietary capacity in approving and permitting Sound Transit's plans for a commuter rail project, does the Court of Appeals' decision that the City could potentially be liable for an unconstitutional taking resulting from Sound Transit's designed and constructed project conflict with this Court's holdings in Phillips v. King County, 136 Wn.2d 946, 968 P.2d 871 (1998), and Halverson v. Skagit County, 139 Wn.2d 1, 983 P.2d 643 (1999) and the Court of Appeals' decision in Jackass Mt. Ranch, Inc. v. S. Columbia Basin Irrigation Dist., 175 Wn. App. 374, 305 P.3d 1108 (2013)? (RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2))
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
	A. Introduction2
	B. <u>Factual Background</u> 3
	C. Procedural Background5
v.	ARGUMENT6
	A. Introduction 6

	and Create Unnecessary Barriers to Important Public Projects.
(Rap	o 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4))8
	1. Municipalities are not to be Made Sureties for Third Party Projects in the
	Absence of Proprietary Participation8
	2. Factual Support Similar to What Led to Remand in Phillips is Absent Here!
	3. The Absence of any Facts Supporting a Proprietary Action or Benefit here,  Makes Summary Judgment Dismissal the Correct Decision
	The COA Approach to the Issue of "Substantial Impairment" is in Conflict with ess Takings Case Law and is Inconsistent with its Own Ruling on the 223
	perty. (Rap 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (3))
	1. The Existence of a Taking is a Threshold Question of Law for the Court15
	Under Controlling Case Law, Substantial Impairment is not a Value Based     Determination

## Table of Authorities

## Washington Cases

washington Cases
Bernal v. Am. Honda Motor Co., 87 Wn.2d 406, 412, 553 P.2d 107 (1976)
Bodin v. City of Stanwood, 130 Wn.2d 726, 740, 927 P.2d 240 (1996)3
<u>Capitol Hill Methodist Church v. Seattle</u> , 52 Wn.2d 359, 324 P.2d 1113 (1958)
Dorsch v. City of Tacoma, 92 Wn. App. 131, 960 P.2d 489 (1998)7
<u>Freeman v. City of Centralia</u> , 67 Wash. 142, 120 P. 886 (1912)
Galvis v. Dep't of Transp., 140 Wn. App. 693, 167 P.3d 584 (2007) rev. den. 163 Wn.2d 1041, 187 P.3d 269 (2008)
Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 753 P.2d 517 (1988)
Halverson v. Skagit County, 139 Wn.2d 1, 983 P.2d 643 (1999)
Hoskins v. Kirkland, 7 Wn. App. 957, 503 P.2d 1117 (1972)15, 16, 18
<u>Jackass Mt. Ranch, Inc. v. S. Columbia Basin Irrigation Dist.</u> , 175 Wn. App. 374, 305 P.3d 1108 (2013)
<u>Keiffer v. King County</u> , 89 Wn.2d 369, 572 P.2d 408 (1977)
<u>Kiely v. Graves</u> , 173 Wn.2d 926, 271 P.3d 226 (2012)13
London v. Seattle, 93 Wn.2d 657, 611 P.2d 781 (1980)16
Mackie v. Seattle, 19 Wn. App. 464, 576 P.2d 414 (1978)
Moore v. Wayman, 85 Wn, App. 710, 716, 934 P.2d 707 (1997)7
Okeson v. City of Seattle, 150 Wn.2d 540, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003)7, 13

<u>Phillips v. King County</u> , 136 Wn.2d 946, 968 P.2d 871 (1998)
Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Miller, 156 Wn.2d 403, 128 P.3d 588 (2006)4
SentinelC3, Inc. v. Hunt, 181 Wn.2d 128, 331 P.3d 40 (2014)14, 17, 18
Stiefel v. City of Kent, 132 Wn. App. 523, 132 P.3d 1111 (2006)7, 13
Taylor v. Stevens County, 111 Wn.2d 159, 759 P.2d 447 (1988)7
Wandermere Corp. v. State, 79 Wn.2d 688, 488 P.2d 1088 (1971)16
Statutes
RCW 35.58.0304, 9
RCW 36.70B.17013
RCW 81.112.0104
RCW 81.112.0704
RCW 81.112.0804
RCW 81.112.1004, 9
Constitutional Provisions
Washington Constitution Art 1 & 16 (amendment 9)

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The City of Tacoma, a Washington municipal corporation (the "City"), hereby petitions this Court for review of the Court of Appeals' decision identified immediately below in Section II.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of Division Two's published opinion in TT Properties, LLC v. the City of Tacoma (January 12, 2016)(2016 Wash. App. LEXIS 28, attached hereto as Appendix A), which reversed in part the Pierce County Superior Court's grant of summary judgment to the City.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. In the absence of any facts that the City acted in a proprietary capacity in approving and permitting Sound Transit's plans for a commuter rail project, does the Court of Appeals' decision that the City could potentially be liable for an unconstitutional taking resulting from Sound Transit's¹ designed and constructed project conflict with this Court's holdings in Phillips v. King County, 136 Wn.2d 946, 968 P.2d 871 (1998), and Halverson v. Skagit County, 139 Wn.2d 1, 983 P.2d 643 (1999) and the Court of Appeals' decision in Jackass Mt. Ranch, Inc. v. S. Columbia Basin Irrigation Dist., 175 Wn. App. 374, 305 P.3d 1108 (2013)?² (RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2) and (4))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Sound Transit" is the Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority, dba Sound Transit (and hereinafter referred to as "Sound Transit").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Referred to hereafter as the <u>JMRI</u> case.

B. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding the City potentially liable for an unconstitutional inverse condemnation access taking that resulted from a Sound Transit designed and constructed project in the absence of any supporting facts that the Plaintiff did not have reasonable access remaining at the subject property and without making an initial takings determination as a matter of law in contravention of the numerous other cases discussed herein below from both this Court and the Court of Appeals that are controlling precedent in access takings as interpreted against the Washington State Constitution Art. 1, § 16, and the U.S. Constitution? (RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2) and (3))

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Introduction. This Petition raises the issue whether municipalities can regulate projects over which they have permitting authority without the specter of being made liable for the actions of the permittee through inverse condemnation. A city must be able to act in its sovereign role as regulator without becoming the financial guarantor for the projects it regulates and the permits it issues – particularly in a case such as this, where the City was acting to assist a regional, public transportation project of immense significance.

Three well-settled holdings in the areas of inverse condemnation generally, and access takings in particular, compel reversal of the Court of Appeals' published decision in this case. First, "[a] governmental entity does not become a surety for

every governmental enterprise involving an element of risk."<sup>3</sup> Second, "[n]ot all impairments of access to property are compensable."<sup>4</sup> Finally, "no compensation can be exacted [for an alleged access taking] where access is preserved over other streets or ways."<sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeals recognized (1) that "[i]t is undisputed that TTP retains ingress and egress access on Pacific Avenue and 27<sup>th</sup> Street,<sup>6</sup> (2) that Sound Transit and its contractors carried out the work that converted Delin Street to a slope,<sup>7</sup> and (3) that other than granting Sound Transit the right to use certain right-of-way areas, "[t]he City's involvement... consisted solely of approving and permitting Sound Transit's Plans."<sup>8</sup> Given these undisputed facts, the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that a portion of TTP's inverse condemnation claim should be remanded for trial.

B. Factual Background. TTP owns or formerly owned<sup>9</sup> parcels of real property at 2620 Pacific Avenue (the "2620 Property") and 223 East C Street (the "223 Property") in the City.<sup>10</sup> Historically, TTP had access to the 2620 Property from the front at Pacific Avenue and from the rear at both 27<sup>th</sup> Street and Delin Street.<sup>11</sup> Since 1952, TTP's access to Delin was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Jackass Mt. Ranch, Inc., 175 Wn. App. at 389-390 citing Phillips, 136 Wn.2d at 965 which cited Bodin v. City of Stanwood, 130 Wn.2d 726, 740, 927 P.2d 240 (1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Keiffer v. King County, 89 Wn.2d 369, 372, 572 P.2d 408 (1977). <sup>5</sup> Freeman v. City of Centralia, 67 Wash. 142, 145, 120 P. 886 (1912).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> COA Decision, pg. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> COA Decision, pg. 3.

<sup>• &</sup>lt;u>Id</u>.

TTP sold the 2620 Property on or around June 19, 2013. CP pgs. 262-263.

<sup>&</sup>quot; CP at 284-286.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See TTP's maps at CP 183 and 188. See City maps and photos at CP 108-115, 127, and 133-134.

achieved across an easement retained over the property at 2610 Pacific Ave., which it sold to the City. 12 TTP contended that the Delin Street access point was used to exit the 2620 Property. 13

In 2009. Sound Transit commenced work on its "D to M Track & Signal Project" in order to extend Sounder commuter rail service from Tacoma to Lakewood in furtherance of its mission "[t]o implement a high capacity transportation system,"14 and "to address [inadequate] mobility needs of the area..."15 The State Legislature has granted Sound Transit "[a]ll powers necessary" to carry out its mission, including the power to acquire property through eminent domain and to "[c]onstruct and maintain facilities in public rights-of-way without a franchise."16

The City, which had permitting authority over the portions of the D to M Project within the City's limits, entered into a regulatory Right-of-Use Agreement with Sound Transit (the "RUA") to govern how Sound Transit's use of the public right-of-way would be accomplished. 17 In its regulatory role, the City provided input on various safety and compliance issues with the D to M project, 18 and entered into the RUA as one part of that review and approval process.

COA Decision, pg. 2.
 Id.; CP at 189.
 RCW 81.112.070; CP at 197.

<sup>15</sup> RCW 81.112.010.

<sup>16</sup> RCW 81.112.080, 100; RCW 35.58.030; Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Miller, 156 Wn.2d 403, 128 P.3d 588 (2006); CP at 197.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> COA Decision, pg. 3; the RUA is found in its entirety at CP 197-248.

<sup>18</sup> See e.g. CP at 246-248.

Thereafter, "Sound Transit and its contractors carried out the work necessary for the D to M project...includ[ing] closing the portion of Delin Street" TTP used for a back exit. 19 During the project, Sound Transit representatives "[h]ad multiple conversations with Kenneth A. Turner, manager for TT Properties, LLC...regarding access and related issues."<sup>20</sup> "As a result of these conversations. Sound Transit's contractor widened and improved the Pacific Avenue access to 2620 Pacific Avenue."21

C. Procedural Background. TTP sued the City (but not Sound Transit) in Pierce County Superior Court on November 11, 2013 alleging a "Taking of Property" at 2620 Pacific Avenue (the "2620 Property") and 223 East C Street (the "223 Property"), 22 alleging (1) that Sound Transit's repurposing of the short section of Delin Street that ran near the 2620 Property from a traversable street to right-of-way slope had worked a taking of TTP's access, seeking damages of \$365,000.00, and (2) that Sound Transit's placement of a utility bungalow behind the 223 Property that encroached one foot into an alleyway access path had also worked a taking of TTP's access, seeking additional damages of \$70,000.00.<sup>23</sup>

On the City's motion, the Superior Court dismissed TTP's action on summary judgment, holding as a matter of law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> <u>COA Decision</u> pg. 3. <sup>20</sup> CP at 163.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> <u>Id</u>.
<sup>22</sup> CP at 284-286. <sup>23</sup> CP at 284-286 and 165-168.

that no compensable takings had occurred at either location because both locations still had reasonable access.<sup>24</sup> The Superior Court did not reach the City's second argument—that even if a taking occurred, the City was not the causal actor.

Division II affirmed and reversed it in part in a published decision. Division II affirmed the lower court's ruling that there was no compensable taking at the 223 Property because reasonable access remained, but reversed the same determination on the 2620 Property, holding that there existed "a genuine issue of material fact about whether access to the Pacific Avenue property...was substantially impaired.<sup>25</sup> Division II further held that "[t]here is a question of fact here about whether the City acted in a proprietary, rather than merely a regulatory, capacity,"26 rejecting the City's argument that there was no factual support for the City being held liable as the causal actor under Phillips, Halverson, and JMRI.

The City now seeks review of Division II's remanded issues based on the errors set forth at Section III. above, and the authority and argument that follows.

#### V. **ARGUMENT**

A. Introduction. The City's role in Sound Transit's D to M Project was no more than the role it plays in any permit review and approval for a public project of this size. The RUA is

Id.; and Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings ("RP") at 17-19.
 COA Decision, pg. 11.
 COA Decision, pg. 15.

a regulatory tool used to determine how two government agencies will cooperate in their governmental capacities regarding the public use of right-of-way. This Court has held this type of activity to be governmental and not proprietary.<sup>27</sup> There is no evidence that the City took proprietary action or reaped any special benefit beyond the public benefit of added public transportation within the City.

Moreover, the threshold issue of whether a taking has occurred is a constitutionally based question of law for the court to determine. Under both the state and federal Constitutions, the government cannot take access to a property without paying compensation, but the courts are clear that, "Not all impairments of access to property are compensable." Division II did not make that determination in relation to the 2620 Property confusing the later question of degree of impairment with the long standing rule that if access remains over other ways and means, there is no taking. The resulting confusion has dire consequences for public transportation projects by taking away the possibility for swifter resolution of claims under the court rules and holdings of this Court, and confusing Washington

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> "Governmental functions tend to involve activities ensuring compliance with state law; issuing permits; or performing activities for the public health, safety, and welfare." See Okeson v. City of Seattle, 150 Wn.2d 540, 551, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003) (operating street lights); Stiefel v. City of Kent, 132 Wn. App. 523, 529-530, 132 P.3d 1111 (2006) (operating a fire department); Taylor v. Stevens County, 111 Wn.2d 159, 164-65, 759 P.2d 447 (1988) (issuing building permits and conducting building inspections); Dorsch v. City of Tacoma, 92 Wn. App. 131, 136, 960 P.2d 489 (1998) (issuing electrical permits); Moore v. Wayman, 85 Wn. App. 710, 716, 934 P.2d 707 (1997) (building code inspections).

- B. The Takings Causation Issue Implicates Concerns of Substantial Public Interest That If Left Unaddressed Will Hinder Municipalities in their Crucial Regulatory Role and Create Unnecessary Barriers to Important Public Projects. (Rap 13.4(b)(1)(2)(3) and (4))
- 1. Municipalities are not to be Made Sureties for Third Party Projects in the Absence of Proprietary Participation. The Division II decision raises problematic, far-reaching concerns that directly affect Washington municipalities' ability to regulate activities for the public health, safety, and welfare. Proper regulation, without active proprietary participation, does not amount to causation. <sup>29</sup> If permitting a large scale public project such as Sound Transit's D to M implicates municipal liability for a constitutional taking, municipalities will be extremely hesitant to approve such projects without requiring indemnifications and other safeguards from the project applicant that are not now necessary.

Conversely, government agency project applicants will surely be reluctant to provide such safeguards. Division II's decision will create barriers to the completion of public projects and increase the costs of such projects to the public through delays and agency infighting. Division II's decision has implications not only for Sound Transit projects, but for any state agency that works in the public right-of-way or on locally owned public property. If allowing another governmental agency to use

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Halverson, 139 Wn.2d at 13.

local right-of-way for a public project creates potential liability for the municipality in the absence of proprietary action/benefit, municipalities will be reluctant to allow such use at all, leaving the project agency no recourse but to exercise eminent domain against the regulating agency. To the extent the municipality does not have the discretion to deny such projects, it becomes an unwilling "surety" for projects of other agencies. The facts of this case present the need for this Court's guidance on the issue of allowing right-of-way use by another government agency, and whether that alone creates a proprietary benefit. Without that clarification, Division II's decision stands in conflict with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, resulting in adverse consequences that should not be the result of reviewing and approving permits.<sup>30</sup>

Here, there is no dispute that D to M was a public project. There is no dispute that Sound Transit is legislatively empowered to use public right-of-way to accomplish its legislatively mandated mission.<sup>31</sup> There is no allegation that the City acted improperly in any way in the execution of its regulatory role over the D to M Project. There is only the existence of the RUA and the fact that the City allowed Sound Transit to use public rightof-way for a public transportation project. There is no also supported allegation that the City benefitted in a proprietary capacity. Division II's only stated support for the existence of an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Phillips, 136 Wn.2d at 965; Halverson, 139 Wn.2d 1 at 8; Jackass Mt. Ranch, Inc., 175 Wn. App. at 389-390.

31 CP at 197 citing RCW 81.112.100 and RCW 35.58.030.

issue of material fact regarding causation seems to be the court's overbroad reading of the 6th recital of the RUA, which reads:

> "WHEREAS, it is in the best interests [sic] of the public that the City authorize such use of the Public Right-of-Way in support of Sounder Commuter Rail service through the issuance of a Right-of-Use Agreement for the purposes stated herein..."32 [Emphasis added]

Division II erred when it stated that the RUA "[w]ould be in the best interest of the City and the public"33 using that overbroad reading of the RUA's 6th recital to imply some proprietary benefit to the City in the absence of any support for that allegation. There is no special benefit to the City from this public project.

In both Halverson, and JMRI, the plaintiffs' takings claims against the government were dismissed on summary judgment because the causation element of the taking could not be substantiated as a matter of law. In both cases the government defendants had greater active participation than the City had here.<sup>34</sup> The Phillips Court set forth the elements of inverse condemnation as follows:

> A party alleging inverse condemnation must establish the following elements: (1) a taking or damaging (2) of private property (3) for public use (4) without just compensation being paid (5) by a governmental entity that has not instituted formal proceedings.<sup>35</sup>

<sup>32</sup> CP at 197.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> COA Decision, pg. 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> In both cases, the County and the District had taken on certain maintenance obligations and had actively worked on the dikes and the wasteway.

35 Phillips, 136 Wn.2d at 957, additional cites omitted.

The Court continued by saying that "To have a taking, some governmental activity must have been the direct or proximate cause of the landowner's loss." Here, the City's only action was to enter into the RUA, and thereby allow Sound Transit to repurpose Delin Street to right-of-way slope.

2. Factual Support Similar to What Led to Remand in Phillips is Absent Here. In Phillips, King County allowed a private developer to place stormwater spreaders in County right-of-way, diverting water away from the private development and away from County property onto the property of the landowner alleging inverse condemnation. The County allowed a private, non-right-of-way use that generated private benefit to the developer. There was also substantial evidence of how the County reaped a private benefit from its approval of the Stormwater design and use of County property. The Phillips Court pointed out that:

The record indicates that the water was collected from the development into the retention pond and was piped by culvert under or across the County right-of-way so that instead of flooding County property, it poured out of the spreaders onto the Phillips' property.<sup>37</sup>

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