NO. 92856-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE CITY OF TACOMA, a Washington Municipal Corporation,

Petitioner/Appellant,

vs.

TT PROPERTIES, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondent.

CITY OF TACOMA'S REPLY TO TT PROPERTIES, LLC'S RESPONSE IN THE CITY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Jeff H. Capell, WSBA No. 25207 Deputy City Attorney City of Tacoma 747 Market Street, Room 1120 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 591-5638

I. CITY OF TACOMA'S ARGUMENT IN REPLY TO TT PROPERTIES' RESPONSE

A. <u>Introduction</u>. Holding the City of Tacoma (the "City") potentially liable for an access taking on the facts of this case makes it extremely difficult for any municipality to perform its governmental regulatory function of permit review and approval in furtherance of public health, safety, and welfare for any project that involves public right-of-way. Through a regulatory Right of Use Agreement ("RUA"), the City and Sound Transit reached an accord as to how and where Sound Transit would use right-of-way dedicated to the City as part of the permitting process for Sound Transit's D to M Project (the "Project"). Sound Transit's legislatively mandated mission of providing public transportation allows it to use local right-of-way even to the point of using eminent domain to acquire that right. The City acted solely in its sovereign, regulatory capacity and without any proprietary benefit accruing from the RUA in permitting the Project. Under Phillips v. King County, 136 Wn.2d 946, 968 P.2d 871 (1998) and its progeny³ and the undisputed facts of this case, there is no causation against the City for inverse condemnation.

The question of causation need not even be reached if this Court corrects the error made by the Court of Appeals, Division Two regarding

¹ See RCW 81.112.070; CP at 197.

² RCW 81.112.080, 100; RCW 35.58.030; <u>Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Miller</u>, 156 Wn.2d 403, 128 P.3d 588 (2006); CP at 197.

³ <u>Halverson v. Skagit County</u>, 139 Wn.2d 1, 983 P.2d 643 (1999); <u>Jackass Mt. Ranch</u>, <u>Inc. v. S. Columbia Basin Irrigation Dist.</u>, 175 Wn. App. 374, 305 P.3d 1108 (2013).

access takings. For over a century, this Court has held that "[n]ot all impairments of access to property are compensable," and that "no compensation can be exacted [for an alleged access taking] where access is preserved over other streets or ways." Such is the case here with the real property at 2620 Pacific Avenue (the "2620 Property") still having its main, direct access from Pacific Avenue, as widened and improved by Sound Transit as part of its Project, and another direct access from 27th Street. Not only did Division Two err by ignoring binding precedent regarding these remaining access points, but it further erred by making an unsupported opinion/conclusory assertions its basis for finding an issue of material fact regarding substantial impairment.

Government agencies such as the City and Sound Transit need to be able to rely on controlling precedent when they make decisions regarding right-of-way. That is, if an agency makes a decision regarding right-of-way that changes an access point for an abutting property owner, but still preserves access to that property over other streets or ways, the agency should have some certainty that it will not be liable for a taking. Division Two's decision does not follow controlling precedent in this regard, and lowers the bar to the point that any change to access whatsoever will require a trial. Without correction, Division Two's

⁴ Keiffer v. King County, 89 Wn.2d 369, 372, 572 P.2d 408 (1977).

⁵ Freeman v. City of Centralia, 67 Wash. 142, 145, 120 P. 886 (1912).

⁶ <u>COA Decision</u>, pg. 11; <u>City's Petition</u>, pgs. 16-19. All cites are to the version of the <u>COA Decision</u> submitted with the City's Petition.

decision hinders agency decisions regarding right-of-way significantly.

B. This Court's holding in *Phillips* on Causation was not Followed by Division Two. That Failure Hinders Municipalities in Fulfilling Their Sovereign Regulatory Role in the Permitting Process and Must be Corrected.

"To have a taking, some governmental activity must have been the direct or proximate cause of the landowner's loss." It is undisputed that D to M was a Sound Transit Project conducted in furtherance of Sound Transit's mission to provide public transportation. It is undisputed that Sound Transit designed the Project. It is undisputed that Sound Transit's contractor performed the work that led to the repurposing of Delin Street right-of-way from a traversable side street to right-of-way slope to South Tacoma Way. The City did not take any of these actions that allegedly "caused" TT Properties, LLC's ("TTP") loss. TTP's causation argument rests entirely on the existence of the RUA, and fails as a result.

In its Response, TTP asserts that "[t]he City's action through the Right of Use Agreement destroyed TT Properties' Delin Street access." But TTP can point to no action the City took through the RUA, and more precisely, TTP can point to no action relevant to Delin Street other than agreeing to the use. That is not enough to hold the City potentially liable even if there is a compensable taking in this matter.

⁷ Phillips, 136 Wn.2d at 966.

⁸ COA Decision, pg. 15.

TTP Response, pg. 7.

Division Two acknowledged the <u>Phillips</u> rules, ¹⁰ and then failed to follow them. Division Two erroneously held that the City might be liable because the City might have been a direct participant in these actions by allowing use of the right-of-way. ¹¹ Even were that true, under <u>Phillips</u>, there must be supported facts that show a proprietary benefit to the permitting municipality in addition to allowing right-of-way use in order to withstand summary judgment under <u>Phillips</u>. ¹²

In <u>Phillips</u>, the county not only allowed a private development to use county right-of-way for placement of private stormwater improvements, it also benefited by those improvements diverting stormwater away from county owned property "so that instead of flooding county property, it poured out of the spreaders onto the Phillips' property."¹³ That is where the question of proprietary benefit came in to reverse the previously granted summary judgment in <u>Phillips</u>. There was evidence that the county benefited proprietarily. Here, the City did not.

The City did allow the repurposing of Delin Street, but not to any proprietary end. Unlike the developer's private use in <u>Phillips</u> and the resulting private benefit to the county, the City merely allowed Sound Transit to use Delin, in accordance with its design, to accomplish construction of a *public* transportation project.

¹⁰ COA Decision, pg 14 (municipality not liable for design when its action is only to approve and permit).

¹¹ COA Decision, pg 15.

¹² Phillips, 136 Wn.2d at 967-968.

^{13 &}lt;u>Id</u>.

It is true that, in the RUA recitals, the City declared the Project to be in the best interest of the public. 14 That is only true, however, in the exact, sovereign sense of the words used, that a public transportation project benefits the citizens of the City. There is no proprietary tie-in to be found in a misquoted recital. "The principal test in distinguishing governmental functions from proprietary functions is whether the act performed is for the common good of all, or whether it is for the special benefit or profit of the corporate entity." A public transportation project is just that—for the public. There is no allegation of any special benefit or profit inuring to the City here, only what Division Two characterizes as a question of fact about whether the City directly participated somehow in the Project because of the existence of the RUA. That is not the **Phillips** standard. There must be a proprietary benefit as well.

TTP, in its Response, quotes from other recitals of the RUA as evidence of the City's participation. ¹⁶ Any alleged participation notwithstanding, none of those recitals show any kind of a special benefit or profit to the municipal corporation of the City that results from allowing the repurposing of Delin Street for a public purpose. In Phillips, the county's alleged benefit, for which there was a variety of

16 TTP Response, pgs. 17-18.

¹⁴ CP 197; Division Two erroneously paraphrased this recital as the City acknowledging that the RUA "[w]ould be in the best interest of the City and the public." <u>COA Decision</u>, pg 15.

15 <u>Okeson v. City of Seattle</u>, 150 Wn.2d 540, 550, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003).

evidence including expert reports, resulted directly from the right-of-way use in question. Here, the best TTP can do is to point to conditions in the RUA that have nothing to do with Delin Street or with any proprietary benefit. There is no evidence to show that these provisions are anything other than part of the regulatory framework for Sound Transit's Project.

Even TTP's reference, raised for the first time in its Response to the City's Petition for Review, to various requirements in the RUA¹⁷ makes no connection to any proprietary benefit to the City. These provisions were either regulatory in nature (requiring a City Project Manager for regulatory oversight) or were nothing more than boilerplate provisions common to a regulatory agreement.

The bottom line here is that the facts, even when viewed in a light most favorable to TTP, present far too tenuous a link to create causal liability on the City for the loss of TTP's back exit on Delin Street as a result of Sound Transit's design and construction. That tenuousness is what creates the huge dilemma for municipalities. If the use of regulatory agreements on larger projects creates an inference of direct participation in a project, and then without any evidence of a proprietary benefit, as required by Phillips and it progeny, a city may be liable for what happens as part of the permitted project, cities will no longer be able to use regulatory agreements, and will be loath to approve

¹⁷ See <u>TTP Response</u>, pg. 18 referencing CP 208-209, 220-221, and 226.

projects where there is any risk of being sucked into liability. The alternative is that cities will approve such projects, but will limit their involvement to the point that sovereign responsibilities regarding public health, safety, and welfare will be disregarded in order to be shielded against liability or will have to require indemnification as part of project review. The added risk that Division Two's error unavoidably hinders cities in performing their regulatory role for the betterment of the public. That sort of obstacle to carrying out sovereign duties does not appear to be what this Court intended in Phillips. Division Two's errors of ignoring the proprietary benefit requirement of Phillips and its progeny should be corrected through reversal and reinstatement of the trial court's summary judgment dismissal on this alternative ground. 18

C. Division Two's Failure to Follow Controlling Takings
Precedent from This Court and Even Its Own Prior Decisions Must
be Corrected for Government Agencies to Have Any Certainty in
Their Management of the Public Right-of-Way.

Beginning as early as 1912, this Court has held in access takings cases that:

"[t]he rule is equally well settled that no compensation can be exacted where access is preserved over other streets or ways. In other words, an added inconvenience is not a damage or taking within the meaning of these terms as they are used in our state constitution." ¹⁹

7

¹⁸ Plein v. Lackey, 149 Wn.2d 214, 222, 67 P.3d 1061 (2003) ("Generally, an appellate court may affirm a grant of summary judgment on an issue not decided by the trial court provided that it is supported by the record and is within the pleadings and proof.") citing Ertman v. Olympia, 95 Wn.2d 105, 108, 621 P.2d 724 (1980) (a superior court decision will not be reversed where the reason given is erroneous if the judgment or order is correct).

¹⁹ Freeman v. City of Centralia, 67 Wash. 142, 145, 120 P. 886 (1912).

This rule is clearly stated and is clear in its application. Division Two failed to apply it. TTP argues that the Freeman rule only applies to properties that do not abut the street in question. That is not the law.²⁰ Applying Freeman and the many cases citing it to the 2620 Property dictates that there is no compensable taking here as the trial court ruled. Numerous cases since Freeman support the trial court's dismissal.²¹ In all these cases, by any reasonable assessment, the plaintiffs remaining access was less than what remains at the 2620 Property after completion of Sound Transit's Project. The 2620 Property still has direct access from two different abutting streets.

At its essence, TTP's complaint is that traffic cannot now flow through the 2620 Property, entering on Pacific Ave. and exiting on Delin Street. This is exactly the type of case this Court has held is not a compensable taking.²² This Court has expressly held that "[t]he right of

²⁰ Freeman and it progeny deal with issues particular to abutting properties. The only time an abutting property owner has any heightened rights is when she becomes landlocked as a result of a street closure. Such is not the case here.

²¹ Hoskins v. Kirkland, 7 Wn. App. 957, 960-961 503 P.2d 1117 (1972) ("If, however, the landowner still retains an alternate mode of egress from or ingress to his land, even if less convenient, generally speaking he is not deemed specially damaged. He has no legal right to prevent the vacation because no legal right of his has been invaded."); Mackie v. Seattle, 19 Wn. App. 464, 469-470, 576 P.2d 414 (1978) ("The plaintiff and his customers still have access to the property. The fact that access is deflected a few blocks and will be inconvenient due to the closure of South Southern Street in the next block does not raise such inconvenience to the status of a special injury not suffered by the general public. The plaintiff does not have standing to challenge the Board of Public Works' action."); Capitol Hill Methodist Church v. Seattle, 52 Wn.2d 359, 324 P.2d 1113 (1958)(no taking on summary judgment where plaintiff retains excellent access to the system of streets remaining.); Galvis v. Dep't of Transp., 140 Wn. App. 693, 167 P.3d 584 (2007)(no taking even though WSDOT reduced unfettered access along abutting street to two curb cuts).

22 Keiffer v. King County, 89 Wn.2d 369, 572 P.2d 408 (1977) citing Walker v. State,

access does not include the right to maintenance of a particular pattern or flow of traffic."²³ TTP's desired flow of traffic through the 2620 Property and out to Delin Street is the entire basis for its claim of monetary damage—a monetary claim that is wholly lacking in any factual support.²⁴

The trial court recognized that the application of this Court's holdings in Freeman, Walker, Capitol Hill, and Keiffer as well as the multiple Court of Appeals cases following them²⁵ dictate dismissal of TTP's claim because there is no compensable taking at the 2620 Property.

Whether a taking exists at all is a threshold determination for the court.²⁶ Division Two correctly made this determination for the 223 Property,²⁷ but inconsistently failed to do so for the 2620 Property, instead erroneously finding an issue of material fact regarding whether TTP was damaged in contravention of controlling case law.²⁸ In regard to the 223 Property, Division Two correctly held that TTP failed to show

⁴⁸ Wn.2d 587, 295 P.2d 328 (1956).

²³ <u>Capitol Hill Methodist Church</u>, 52 Wn.2d at 365; <u>Keiffer</u>, 89 Wn.2d at 372-373.

²⁴ TTP's claim of monetary damage is based entirely on the unsupported, conclusory assertion of Christopher Eldred, CP pg. 185; <u>SentinelC3</u>, Inc. v. Hunt, 181 Wn.2d 128,

^{140-141, 331} P.3d 40 (2014) ("to defeat a motion for summary judgment, a party must present more than '[u]ltimate facts' or conclusory statements.") citing Grimwood v.

Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 359-60, 753 P.2d 517 (1988)

²⁵ See e.g. Hoskins, Mackie and Galvis supra.

²⁶ Wandermere Corp. v. State, 79 Wn.2d 688, 695, 488 P.2d 1088 (1971)(the determination of the existence of a taking is a judicial question); Keiffer, 89 Wn.2d at 372-373; Galvis, 140 Wn. App. At 705 as cited by Division Two in upholding the dismissal of TTP's claim at the 223 Property, COA Decision, pg. 13().

²⁷ <u>COA Decision</u>, pg. 13; for which summary judgment dismissal was upheld by Division Two and for which TTP does not seek review. <u>TTP Response</u>, pg. 8 fn 3. ²⁸ <u>COA Decision</u>, pg. 11-12.

it had a property right that had been damaged because it still had access. Citing Keiffer and Galvis, Division Two correctly held, in regard to the 223 Property, that a jury need not decide damages or whether the degree of impairment is compensable.²⁹ Why then, was that same process not engaged for the 2620 Property where more access remains than for the 223 Property?

The following excerpt from this Court's decision in Keiffer is particularly instructive as to how Division Two erred. This Court outlined the process for assessing an access taking claim as follows:

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